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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

PANAMA CITY DIVISION 

 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

       Case No. 5:20-cr-28-MW/MJF 

v. 

 

MARGO DEAL ANDERSON, et al., 

 

  Defendants. 

________________________________/ 

 

DEFENDANT ANDERSON’S MOTION TO DISMISS  

COUNT TWENTY-NINE AND COUNT SIXTY-THREE 

 

 Defendant, Margo Deal Anderson, moves to dismiss Count Twenty-Nine and 

Count Sixty-Three of the Indictment, ECF No. 1, and says: 

 Count Twenty-Nine and Count Sixty-Three are facially defective.  The 

Indictment alleges that Anderson (i) committed wire fraud, (ii) committed honest 

services fraud, (iii) conspired to commit wire fraud and honest services fraud, (iv) 

committed theft from a program receiving federal funds, and (v) made false 

statements to a federal agency.  Count One alleging conspiracy includes most of the 

Indictment’s factual allegations.  The counts for wire fraud and honest services fraud 

thereafter incorporate by reference factual allegations from Count One.  However, 

neither Count Twenty-Nine alleging theft from a federally funded program nor 

Count Sixty-Three alleging false statements made to a federal agency incorporate 
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factual allegations from other counts.  Standing alone, the allegations in Count 

Twenty-Nine and Count Sixty-Three fail to state an offense and should be dismissed. 

MEMORANDUM OF LAW 

 A motion to dismiss tests the legal sufficiency of an indictment.  An 

indictment must contain “a plain, concise, and definite written statement of the 

essential facts constituting the offense charged[,]” Fed. R. Crim. P. 7(c), and “‘each 

count of an indictment must be regarded as if it were a separate indictment and must 

stand on its own content without dependence for its validity on the allegations on 

any other count not expressly incorporated.’” U.S. v. Schmitz, 634 F. 3d 1247, 1261 

(11th Cir. 2011) (quoting U.S. v. Huff, 512 F. 2d 66, 69 (5th Cir. 1975).   

The Eleventh Circuit has established the following standard for evaluating the 

sufficiency of an indictment: 

“An indictment is considered legally sufficient if it: (1) presents 

the essential elements of the charged offense, (2) notifies the accused 

of the charges to be defended against, and (3) enables the accused to 

rely upon a judgment under the indictment as a bar against double 

jeopardy for any subsequent prosecution for the same offense . . . .” 

* * * 

. . .  [Notwithstanding the above, an] indictment must contain “a 

plain, concise, and definite written statement of the essential facts 

constituting the offense charged.  Fed. R. Crim. P. 7(c)(1) (emphasis 

added).  Even when an indictment “tracks the language of the statute, 

‘it must be accompanied with such a statement of the facts and 

circumstances as will inform the accused of the specific offense, coming 

under the general description, with which he is charged.’” 
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Schmitz, 634 F. 3d at 1259-60 (quoting U.S. v. Jordan, 582 F. 3d 1239, 1245 (11th 

Cir. 2009), and U.S. v. Bobo, 344 F. 3d 1076, 1083 (11th Cir. 2003)) (emphasis 

added); accord U.S. v. Kalfas, No. 4:10-cr-48-RH/WCS, 2010 WL 3781622, at *1 

(N.D. Fla. Sept. 21, 2010) (quoting Bobo). 

I. Count Twenty-Nine -- 18 U.S.C. § 666(a)(1)(A) -- fails to include essential 

facts underlying the charged offense. 

 

Count Twenty-Nine for theft from a federally funded program consists of a 

bare recital of the statute.  It tracks the language of section 666(a)(1)(A) but fails to 

include any facts or circumstances informing Anderson of the specific offense 

charged.  This does not suffice. 

In United States v. Schmitz, the court vacated the conviction of a defendant 

for violations of section 666(a)(1)(A) based on a defective indictment: 

The indictment charges [defendant] Schmitz with four counts of 

theft concerning a program receiving federal funds, in violation of 18 

U.S.C. § 666(a)(1)(A).  The federal-funds counts incorporate the first 

two paragraphs of the indictment, which describe Schmitz’s 

background and the CITY program, but they do not incorporate or re-

allege any of the allegations of fraud in the mail-fraud counts . . . . 

* * * 

We hold that the allegations of fraud in the federal-funds counts 

are insufficient because they provide absolutely no factual detail 

regarding the scheme to defraud the CITY program . . . .  Counts Five, 

Six, Seven, and Eight simply allege that Schmitz did “embezzle, steal, 

obtain by fraud and without authority convert to her own use, and 

intentionally misapply” the salary and other benefits she received from 

the CITY program.  While this language tracks 18 U.S.C. § 666, the 

federal-funds counts allege no facts or circumstances that inform 

Schmitz of these specific charges.  As a result, the allegations of fraud 

in the federal-funds counts are insufficient as a matter of law. 
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. . .  The Government would have us overlook the complete 

absence of factual allegations in the federal-funds counts because the 

mail-fraud counts adequately describe Schmitz’s fraudulent scheme.  

This we cannot do because it would contradict the principle that “each 

count of an indictment must be regarded as if it were a separate 

indictment and must stand on its own . . . .” 

 

Schmitz, 634 F. 3d at 1260-61 (internal citations omitted) (concluding that district 

court erred in denying motion to dismiss and vacating convictions).   

Count Twenty-Nine contains even fewer facts than the counts rejected by the 

Eleventh Circuit in Schmitz.  Compare Anderson Indictment, pp. 42-43, ECF No. 1, 

with Schmitz Indictment, Exhibit A.  Count Twenty-Nine alleges that Anderson did 

“knowingly embezzle, steal, obtain by fraud, without authority convert to the use of 

a person other than the rightful owner, and intentionally misapply property that was 

valued at $5,000 or more . . . .”  Anderson Indictment, pp. 42, ECF No. 1.  Nothing 

more.  For the reasons discussed in Schmitz, the allegations of fraud in Count 

Twenty-Nine are insufficient as a matter of law. 

II. Count Sixty-Three -- 18 U.S.C. § 1001(a)(2) -- fails to include essential 

facts underlying the charged offense. 

 

 Count Sixty-Three for making false statements to a federal agency, like Count 

Twenty-Nine, fails to include essential facts.  An essential fact underlying a violation 

of section 1001 is that the alleged statement(s) was made in a “matter within the 

jurisdiction of the executive, legislative, or judicial branch of the Government of the 
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United States . . . .”  18 U.S.C. § 1001(a)(2); U.S. v. House, 684 F. 3d 1173, 1203 

(11th Cir. 2012).  Otherwise, no violation occurred. 

Count Sixty-Three tracks the language of the statute alleging that Anderson 

made statements “in a matter within the executive branch of the Government of the 

United States . . . .”  Anderson Indictment, p. 47, ECF No. 1.  As previously noted, 

however, allegations tracking the statutory language must be accompanied by facts 

informing the accused of the specific offense charged.  See Schmitz, 634 F. 3d at 

1261.  Count Sixty-Three fails to include facts specifically demonstrating the 

implicated “matter” and “branch” of the Government.  

In United States v. McQueen, the court considered a motion to dismiss an 

indictment for falsifying records to impede the administration of a government 

investigation or program.  An essential fact underlying the offense was that the 

falsified record be “in any matter within the jurisdiction of any department or agency 

of the United States . . . .”  18 U.S.C. § 1519.  The court determined that the omission 

of facts demonstrating this essential fact rendered the indictment insufficient and 

necessitated its dismissal: 

The allegations in Counts Two, Three, and Four of the 

Indictment are insufficient as a matter of law, and consequently, the 

Motions to Dismiss must be granted. 

 

. . .  [T]he essence of the allegations [for violations of section 

1519] are that [defendants] McQueen and Dawkins were state 

correctional officers at the SFRC; on February 27, 2009 they made false 

entries in records with the intent to impede, obstruct, and influence an 
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investigation and proper administration of a matter within the 

jurisdiction of the United States; and the false entries are described.  As 

Defendants argue in their Motions, to properly allege a violation of 

section 1519, more must be alleged . . . .  The Indictment fails to identify 

the “department or agency of the United States” conducting an 

investigation or for which the administration would be impeded by the 

Defendants’ alleged falsification of records.  This failure is critical . . . 

.  Without an investigation being identified by the Indictment, or what 

federal department or agency was or would be conducting an 

investigation, the Indictment fails to inform the Defendants of the 

necessary facts and circumstances they will need to defend . . . . 

* * * 

 . . .  Absent a grand jury returning an indictment that contains the 

correct statutory language and elements of the charge, with the essential 

facts constituting the offense, it would not be known if the grand jury 

properly evaluated the evidence and law relating thereto. 

 

 In sum, Counts Two and Three neither track the statutory 

language, nor contain the essential facts constituting the offense 

charged.  As such, they must be dismissed. 

 

U.S. v. McQueen, No. 11-20393-CR, 2011 WL 4375729, at *2-3 (S.D. Fla. Sept. 16, 

2011) (internal citations omitted). 

 The court in McQueen considered a different but comparable offense.  An 

essential fact underlying offenses for both section 1001 (Count Sixty-Three against 

Anderson) and section 1519 (dismissed by the court in McQueen) is the fact that the 

alleged false statement or record be made “in any matter within the jurisdiction” of 

a department, agency, or branch of the Government of the United States.  The 

indictment in McQueen was dismissed because it failed to include facts to inform 

the accused of the specific matter and agency underlying the charged offense.  Count 

Sixty-Three against Anderson may track the language of the statute but, like the 
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indictment in McQueen, fails to include essential facts to inform Anderson of the 

specific offense, including the specific matter and agency or department of the 

Government underlying the charged offense.  Compare Anderson Indictment, pp.46-

48, ECF No. 1, with McQueen Indictment, Exhibit B.  This deviates from the 

pleading requirements of Rule 7 and the standard established by the Eleventh Circuit 

and Supreme Court rendering Count Sixty-Three insufficient as a matter of law.  See 

Schmitz, 634 F. 3d at 1261; Bobo, 344 F. 3d at 1083 (quoting Russell v. U.S., 369 

U.S. 749, 765 (1962)).    

CONCLUSION 

 In sum, the Government presented, and grand jury returned, a defective 

indictment.  The defect may not be cured by a response to this motion, by a bill of 

particulars, or by directing Anderson and the Court to allegations in other counts.  

Count Twenty-Nine and Count Sixty-Three fail to include essential facts of the 

charged offenses and, accordingly, should be dismissed.   

 Wherefore, Defendant, Margo Deal Anderson, requests that the Court dismiss 

Count Twenty-Nine and Count Sixty-Three and such further relief as the Court 

deems just and proper.    
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Dated this 31st day of December, 2020. 

 

/s/ Anthony L. Bajoczky, Jr. 

 

James P. Judkins 

Florida Bar No. 174168 

Ausley & McMullen, P.A. 

123 South Calhoun Street 

Tallahassee, Florida 32301 

850-224-9115 

jjudkins@ausley.com 

fsnavely@ausley.com 

 

W. Robert Vezina, III 

Florida Bar No. 329401 

Anthony L. Bajoczky, Jr. 

Florida Bar No. 96631 

Vezina, Lawrence & Piscitelli, P.A. 

413 East Park Avenue 

Tallahassee, Florida 32301 

850-224-6205 

rvezina@vlplaw.com 

tbajoczky@vlplaw.com 

rhodge@vlplaw.com 

 

Counsel for Defendant, 

Margo Deal Anderson 

 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 I certify that a true and correct copy of the foregoing has been served 

electronically via the CM/ECF System on this 31st day of December, 2020.   

/s/ Anthony L. Bajoczky, Jr. 
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